Pension Crediting for Caregivers

Policies in Finland, France, Germany, Sweden, the United Kingdom, Canada, and Japan

Elaine Fultz



About This Report

This report examines pension caregiver crediting in five European Union (EU) countries, Canada, and Japan and draws out the potential relevance of different policy designs for the United States. The report describes the rationales and objectives for pension caregiver crediting, which can include poverty alleviation, increased labor force participation, increased fertility rates, and greater gender equality. The report provides country-specific contexts for the development of pension caregiver crediting policies. The research was made possible by generous funding from The Ford Foundation.

This report was prepared for the Institute for Women's Policy Research by Elaine Fultz, Ph.D., consultant on Social Security, International Labour Organization (ILO), retired.

About the Institute for Women's Policy Research

The Institute for Women's Policy Research (IWPR) conducts rigorous research and disseminates its findings to address the needs of women, promote public dialogue, and strengthen families, communities, and societies. The Institute works with policymakers, scholars, and public interest groups to design, execute, and disseminate research that illuminates economic and social policy issues affecting women and their families, and to build a network of individuals and organizations that conduct and use womenoriented policy research. IWPR's work is supported by foundation grants, government grants and contracts, donations from individuals, and contributions from organizations and corporations. IWPR is a 501(c)(3) tax-exempt organization that also works in affiliation with the women's studies and public policy programs at The George Washington University.

Board of Directors

Lenora Cole, Chair

University of Maryland University College

Esmeralda O. Lyn, Vice Chair Hofstra University

Carol Greene Vincent, Treasurer
Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP

Court : Hand Compets Li

Cynthia Lloyd, Secretary Population Council

Carol Greene Vincent, Treasurer

Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP

William Baer

Bloomingdale's

Ellen Delany

Delany, Siegel, Zorn & Associates Inc.

Jennifer Duck

Pfizer, Inc.

Holly Fechner

Covington & Burling LLP

Lynn Gitlitz

Business Development Consultant

David A. Goslin

American Institutes for Research

Lorretta Johnson

American Federation of Teachers, AFL-CIO

Ellen Karp

Anerca

Susan Meade

Phillips Oppenheim

Emily van Agtmael

Van Agtmael Interiors

Sheila W. Wellington

New York University

Marcia Worthing

Sylphiel Yip

G.X. Clarke & Co.

Heidi Hartmann, President

Institute for Women's Policy Research

Barbara Gault, Vice President

Institute for Women's Policy Research

IWPR #D497

ISBN: 978-1-933161-05-1

\$15.00

© Copyright 2011 by the Institute for Women's

Policy Research, Washington, DC.

All rights reserved.

Printed in the United States of America.

Institute for Women's Policy Research

1200 18th Street NW, Suite 301 Washington, DC 20036 202/785-5100 • 202/833.4362 fax

www.iwpr.org

Pension Crediting for Caregivers

Policies in Finland, France, Germany, Sweden, the United Kingdom, Canada, and Japan

Elaine Fultz, Ph.D.



Acknowledgments

I was aided in this analysis by personal conversations and correspondence with specialists in gender, family, and pension policy in all seven of the sample countries. They included Cathy Drummond and Michel Montambeault in Canada; Olli Kangas and Eila Tuominen in Finland; Marie-France Laroque and Jean-Philippe Lhernould in France; Silke Steinhilber in Germany; Noriyuki Takayama in Japan; Bodhi Pieris in Sweden; and, Pauline Barrett-Reid and Athina Vlachantoni in the United Kingdom. In addition, Robert Drago of IWPR edited the draft and Annamaria Sundbye meticulously checked facts, figures, and references. Drawing on her comparative experience with European pension crediting systems, Silke Steinhilber provided a final substantive review. I warmly thank all these individuals for their collaboration.

I presented drafts of this article at two public seminars, the IWPR's Roundtable on Women and the Economy (October 2009) and the New America Foundation's forum on Designing Work-Family Policies (September 2010). Comments received in the course of both discussions are reflected in the final analysis.

All of these inputs enriched this discussion of pension credits for caregiving in an international context. However, responsibility for any errors is solely my own.

Elaine Fultz

Executive Summary

This report examines pension crediting for caregivers in seven countries. These credits are most often awarded to mothers of young children, but also to fathers, adult children, grandparents, or unrelated caregivers. They improve pension adequacy by compensating for periods of unpaid work during which the care provider makes limited or no pension contributions. The credits may help to establish pension eligibility, advance the date of retirement, improve the pension amount, or affect a combination of these. The countries examined here are Canada, Japan, and five members of the European Union (EU): Finland, France, Germany, Sweden, and the United Kingdom. While the credits are known by a variety of terms, this paper uses for the most part a single phrase: Pension Crediting for Caregivers, or PCC.

The analysis has three parts. Chapter 1 serves as background, describing the national contexts in which PCC occurs, the social objectives it is used to achieve, and the general parameters of PCC scheme designs. Chapter 2 describes variation in PCC features across the seven countries. Drawing on these comparisons, it considers the feasibility of achieving different policy purposes through the use of crediting, with particular reference to the United States, were it to establish PCC. Chapter 3 provides country-by-country descriptions of PCC systems, as well as some relevant features of the national pension systems and the labor markets in which they operate.

The analysis shows:

- The seven countries analyzed make wide use of PCC to pursue a range of policy purposes. PCC are used for prevention of poverty among women, improvements in gender equality, recognition of the social value of unpaid work, incentives for women to take up paid employment, and in some cases, to have and raise children. In the EU countries, poverty alleviation is a longstanding PCC objective, supplemented in recent decades by provisions to promote gender equality in both family caregiving and employment.
- A set of logical relations exists between these purposes and scheme designs. PCC systems aimed at poverty alleviation tend to target (directly or indirectly) those with low earnings, to provide relatively long periods of eligibility, and to allow work while receiving credits. PCC systems aimed at raising or maintaining high workforce participation rates among women tend to provide high wage replacement rates for shorter periods. PCC systems aimed at raising fertility rates tend to base eligibility on giving birth alone (without a requirement for raising a child) and may provide more generous crediting for subsequent births. PCC systems aimed at gender equality tend to include incentives for equal sharing of family caregiving between parents. In many countries, two or three different sets of PCC rules operate side-by-side aimed at various objectives.
- All sample countries link PCC with other social benefits (e.g., family allowances, childcare benefits, or tax subsidies) in ways that increase its reach and impact. The clearest implication of this study is that pension crediting in any form can be expected to be effective only to the extent that it is linked with other tools that support its role and extend its reach. Thus, a key question for analysis in

- the U.S. context is how a new PCC system might be aligned with existing or new policy tools.
- While PCC is often conceptualized as a way of compensating women for time spent out of the workforce, the analysis points to strong advantages of allowing at least some concurrent work, especially where poverty alleviation is a central goal of crediting. Namely, it enables caregivers to enhance family income today while, at the same time, having their pension record supplemented by PCC, thus boosting future pension adequacy. In addition, it helps to sustain a caregiver's ties with the labor force, making it easier to resume full-time employment over the life course. In principle, to the extent that PCC systems are conceived in recognition of the value of unpaid work, the rearing of children and informal care for the elderly or disabled should be credited regardless of the care provider's labor force status.
- The sample countries employ various methods to finance PCC: the pension scheme itself, through a cross-subsidy from those paying contributions to those providing care; the general government budget, which shifts the financing burden to taxpayers at large; financial transfers from another government agency; contributions withheld from a cash benefit paid to the caregiver; and, taxes on capital income. Comparisons between PCC financing methods and program structure over time suggest that internal financing enhances stability (relative to general government revenues, for example), reducing the risk of frequent changes in crediting rules due to short-term budgetary pressures.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	iii
Chapter 1. The Context	1
Chapter 2. Variation, Trends, and Policy implications	5
Chapter 3. Country Profiles	13
Canada	13
Finland	13
France	15
Germany	17
Japan	
Sweden	19
United Kingdom	21
Notes	25
References	29
Further Reading	31
Appendix	35
The European Union, Social Security, and the Open Method of	Coordination
Author Biography	37
List of Tables	
Table 1. Pension Credit for Caregiving: Years of Major Legislation	6
Table 2. Who Is Eligible for PCC?	8
Table 3. Reference Wages and Dropout Years for PCC	9
Table 4. Concurrent Employment and PCC	10
Table 5. Financing of Credit.	11

Chapter 1. The Context

Within social security systems, pension crediting is used to avoid inadequate pensions for persons engaged in unpaid or low-paid activities that are judged to be of high value, including military service, postsecondary education, and job training, as well as providing care for children, the elderly, and disabled adults. Such crediting is also used to prevent involuntary absences from the workforce—such as unemployment and disability— from reducing the adequacy of the person's pension. In some countries, pension crediting systems are designed to encourage higher birth rates. This study focuses on Pension Crediting for Caregivers (PCC) in the public pension system of seven Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) member countries.

Of the 30 OECD member countries in 2009, only the United States, Turkey, Mexico, and Australia lack PCC systems. In the other 26 countries, there is considerable variation in PCC. First, the period of eligibility differs widely, with Greece, Japan, and Korea offering PCC for one year per child, while in the United Kingdom and Switzerland the period can extend up to 16 years per child. Three- to five-year periods are common (as found in systems in Belgium, Finland, Norway, Poland, Portugal, and Sweden), but longer periods are not unusual. Second, PCC enters the pension calculation in different ways and with different impacts. Depending on the country, it may enable a person to establish pension eligibility, to raise his/her benefit amount, and/or to advance the date on which a pension can be paid.

The general context in which PCC operates includes: 1) the pension systems in which crediting is embedded, and 2) the larger political, economic, and social environments within which the pension systems function. As discussed below, these contextual factors produce differences in the design and functioning of PCC. Since five of the seven countries selected for this study are member states of the European Union (EU), the EU context receives central attention.

European Social Security Systems

Concepts of social security in European countries differ from those in the United States. While Americans tend to think of social security as a pension in retirement, Europeans often use the term to refer to protection from loss of income due to a greater number of risks. This is reflected in the definition of social security of the International Labour Organization (International Labor Organization (ILO) 1952), which includes protections from the following risks:

- 1. sickness;
- 2. maternity;
- 3. unemployment;
- 4. employment injury;
- 5. old age;
- 6. disability; and,
- 7. death of a breadwinner:

plus the provision of subsidies for

- 8. health care; and,
- 9. family expenditures for raising children.

In the five European countries analyzed, these protections are combined in benefit packages that link the various branches of social security. Some examples of such linkages exist in the United States, such as Medicare eligibility being linked to Old-Age, Survivors, and, Disability Insurance (OASDI) eligibility, but such connections are more common in European systems.

Of particular relevance for PCC is the last item in the list above: support for the additional costs families incur in raising children. Such supports may include cash allowances for families with children, family-oriented social services (such as public or subsidized childcare), tax subsidies, and cash benefits paid to parents who quit, reduce, or forgo employment in order to care for young children. In all seven countries, PCC is tied to the receipt of such family benefits. This linkage enables the governments to use PCC to address a broader set of purposes than could be achieved by a pension credit alone.

The Larger Contexts

The contexts in which social security systems operate exert important influences on the design and impact of PCC. The most important contextual factor today in developed countries is population aging. It is causing an increase in the number of retired workers in relation to active ones, a shift that is expected to accelerate in coming decades.

All seven countries under analysis are experiencing population aging. Part of the reason is an increase in life expectancy due to safer living and working conditions and improvements in medical care. Another major cause is low fertility rates. Among the seven countries, fertility rates range from a low of 1.27 births per woman in Japan to highs of 1.8 in Sweden and 1.9 in France— all below the rate needed for maintaining the size of the population, 2.1 births per woman (United Nations (UN) 2007).² Furthermore, across Europe the effects of aging on pension finance are magnified by the high wage replacement rates and low retirement ages of public pension plans relative to the United States. With the exception of the United Kingdom, the pension systems of these countries are more generous in both these regards. As a consequence, aging poses more serious pension financing challenges for them than for the U.S. social security system.

The European Union's response to population aging involves pension cost reductions on the one hand and boosting employment rates on the other, especially for women and older workers. The EU strategy also calls for investments in technology to raise productivity, which has flagged in recent years. Its leadership contends that with higher employment and more productive economies, the European Union will be better able to shoulder the additional costs of aging. Recognizing the critical role of employment in raising economic growth, the *EU Lisbon Strategy* (2000) and its successor, *EU Europe 2020* (2010), set explicit targets for raising national employment levels.³ They also emphasize life-long learning, to encourage later retirement and to make a better match between labor market supply and demand.

It is important to note that the European Union has no binding authority to enforce either pension or employment targets. Whereas member states are subject to binding legislation in certain areas such as monetary, fiscal, and customs policies, most authority is left to the individual member state in regards to social

policy.⁴ To encourage cooperation and monitor progress, the European Union has developed a system known as the Open Method of Coordination (OMC), whereby member states together set benchmarks and indicators linked to policy goals adopted by the EU Council of Ministers and periodically self-assess levels of compliance. The latter includes periodic EU-wide consultations, action plans, and national strategy reports. This process relies on peer pressure and is sometimes called "name and shame." The OMC is an important source of documentation for this report. It is described in the appendix.

To encourage longer work lives, European governments are raising retirement ages, increasing the years of work required for a full pension, and tightening the fit between each worker's lifetime pension contributions and the benefit amount that he or she receives. In calculating cost-of-living adjustments, governments are placing greater weight on price as opposed to wage changes. Together over time, these reforms will lower pension replacement rates. Women as a group are at greater risk of poverty due to these reforms, given their longer periods out of the workforce and lower average wages. PCC systems provide a useful policy tool for reducing this gender-related risk. In the context of tightening pension eligibility criteria and reducing benefit levels, many European governments are liberalizing and expanding PCC.

In addition, EU member states are seeking to shore up pension finance by boosting employment rates, with women as a prime target group. Three approaches can be observed. First, improvements in family benefit packages, such as expanding caregiver leave provisions and improved childcare benefits, along with improved PCC for periods out of the workforce, may make work more attractive for mothers. Second, following the model of the Scandinavian countries that have both high female employment rates and birth rates that are among Europe's highest, many European governments are working to create friendlier work environments for employees and potential employees who might wish to have children. Third, EU countries are attempting to use their childcare/PCC packages as an incentive to induce fathers to share more equally in the work of raising their children, thereby easing the burden of childcare historically falling on mothers.⁵

Alongside these general trends, the sample countries illustrate how the features of PCC schemes vary and how PCC can serve multiple purposes. The next chapter considers variation in the main design features of PCC systems in order to cast light on the potential range of options for creating a new PCC system in the United States and the potential of PCC to achieve various policy goals. The final chapter profiles each of the countries, providing a brief look at its demographic situation, women's participation in the labor market, and the basic structure of pension systems, including PCC. The latter includes the timing of major legislation, the rules for determining eligibility, and the calculation, duration, and financing of PCC.

Chapter 2. Variation, Trends, and Policy implications

What can the United States learn from PCC systems in other countries? This chapter addresses this question by focusing on the variability in important PCC design features and, by extrapolating from the various designs, assessing the potential of PCC to achieve different policy purposes. Among the PCC purposes considered, poverty prevention receives central attention. Such international comparisons are highly relevant for U.S. policy deliberations on pension crediting, but they are only one input. A full characterization of the possible role and structure of PCC in the U.S. context would require broader analysis, including its relation to minimum pension benefits, childcare supports, or means-tested benefits. These questions lie beyond the scope of this analysis.

This chapter examines the sample countries with respect to seven issues: (1) the extent of match between policy goals and design features; (2) the packaging of PCC with other policy tools; (3) targeting of PCC on women and men with low or moderate incomes; (4) the options for assigning a value to unpaid work; (5) the impact of PCC on different elements within pension benefit formulas; (6) rules concerning work during receipt of PCC; and (7) options for financing PCC.

PCC Goals and Structures

As noted, the purposes for which PCC is used in the seven sample countries are numerous, including the prevention and alleviation of poverty, raising women's employment levels, encouraging higher birth rates, and improving gender equality. These purposes influence the design of PCC systems, as shown in Chapter 3, suggesting a set of logical relations between purpose and structure. Specifically:

- If poverty prevention is a goal of PCC policies, it will be limited (directly or indirectly) to those with low incomes, crediting will be of relatively long duration, and beneficiaries will be allowed to work while receiving PCC.
- If the main purpose is to encourage or maintain high employment rates for women, then PCC periods will be short and based mainly on women's actual earnings.
- If encouraging birth rates is a major purpose, PCC will be provided to women who have children, without regard to whether they interrupt their careers to provide care.
- If a society seeks to encourage and support mothers to give up employment in order to raise children, long periods of PCC will be appropriate, possibly based on minimum-wage levels or a fraction of the average wage.
- If PCC is used to encourage a more equal division of childcare labor between men and women, full crediting will be granted only when leave from work is shared more or less equally by two parents, with an exception for single parents. PCC may also include incentives available only to men.

The country profiles also show, however, that simple relations between stated policy goals and scheme design are not often achieved. This is because most of the existing PCC policies were produced over time by different governments seek-

ing to address different problems in different contexts (see Table 1). Thus, like the social security systems in which they are embedded, the PCC systems reflect a mixture of objectives and incentives. Provisions created in one period for one purpose have evolved in response to changing conditions and, in some cases, acquired new purposes.

Table 1. Pension Credit for Caregiving: Years of Major Legislation

Country	Year of enactment	Year(s) of lates legislative change	change
Canada	1977	None	None
Finland	1970s	2005	Credit improved and harmonized: paid to all recipients of short-term social security benefits.
France	1945	1971	Creation of pension bonuses for bearing children.
		1975	Creation of pension credits for mothers of at least two children. Creation of old-age insurance for parents with little or no earnings.
		2004	Expansion of pension credits for mothers of one as well as two children.
		2010	Extension of pension credits to fathers.
			Pension credit revised: PCC is awarded separately for birth (or adoption) and for education of the child.
Germany	1986	1992	Increase in duration of credited period to three years.
		1996	Increase in value of PCC to 100% of average wage (as from year 2000).
		2001	Credit for parents of two or more children and for parents working part-time. Expanded PCC for survivors.
		2002	Riester Pension credit.
Japan	1992	2005	One-year period made more flexible, can be taken within first three years of child's life.
Sweden	1970s	1994 (Implemented in 1998)	Caring credit improved as part of major pension reform, creating notional defined contribution scheme and private individual accounts.
United			
Kingdom	1978	2002	State Second Pension created, with additional pension credit.
		2010	Credit liberalized and broadened.
		2011	Credit extended to grandparents.

Integration of PCC with Other Policy Tools

Across the seven countries, PCC is used in tandem with an array of other policy tools, with the exact mix determined by the purpose being pursued. Here the country profiles show:

- To encourage employment, PCC is often linked with parental leave and cash benefits for workers who have children, helping them to balance commitments to family and employment. Other related tools include subsidized childcare and favorable tax treatment for working spouses.
- To promote gender equality, crediting is sometimes linked with "use-or-lose" leave and cash benefits for fathers, as well as public campaigns (e.g., in Finland) and tax policies that reward the use of these benefits (e.g., in Sweden).
- To support childbearing, longer periods of credit are provided along with longer periods of leave and cash benefits for mothers and fathers of second and third children, with tax advantages for subsequent children. ⁶
- To prevent and alleviate poverty, PCC is provided along with minimum pensions, universal pensions, social assistance, housing subsidies, independent living allowances, and tax-free income.
- The linking of PCC with other policy tools is essential to achieving its objectives, since PCC alone would be unlikely to influence behavior. For example, few women will choose to enter or exit the labor force based solely on the availability of PCC just as few men will opt to take time off for childcare solely for this reason. The power of PCC to induce a woman to have another child is probably zero. The provision of PCC as part of a broader package to ensure the adequacy of retirement benefits is also important because alone it cannot reach all women. It is typically not available to childless women, nor to women with a very weak attachment to the labor force.⁷

Thus, the close linkages between PCC and other policy tools observed in the sample countries invite consideration of how a U.S. crediting system might be integrated with existing or new policy tools so as to maximize their collective impact. The clearest implication of this study is that pension crediting, in any form, can be expected to be effective only to the extent it is associated with other tools that support, complement, and extend its reach.

Targeting

All seven of the countries target all or part of their PCC systems to caregivers with low incomes, suggesting the central importance of poverty alleviation as a goal. This targeting is most often indirect, achieved through basing eligibility for PCC on receipt of a cash benefit that is itself targeted, or by limiting the wages that are deemed to the caregiver to a low level that is attractive only to those with low incomes (see Tables 2 and 3). This "piggyback" approach of basing eligibility for PCC on a means-tested caregiver subsidy or tax credit for caregiving reduces the administrative apparatus that would otherwise be required to target it.

Table 2. Who Is Eligible for PCC?			
Country Canada	A parent caring for a child under age 7 and receiving a family allowance or tax credit.		
Finland	A parent who receives any of several short term social security benefits related to birth and child rearing.		
France	a. Pension credit for parents. Mothers are the default recipient, fathers may receive instead if parents request .		
	b. Old-age insurance for parents with little or no earnings. Two-parent families with incomes below a monthly ceiling or single parents, regardless of income, so long as the parent or parents are receiving a family benefit or caring for a disabled child.		
	c. Pension bonuses for multiple children. Parents who have parented or raised three or more children.		
Germany	Either parent, employed or unemployed, and credit may be shared between parents; care provider for a frail person.8		
Japan	Parent receiving childcare benefit.		
Sweden	Parent receiving parental leave benefit.		
United Kingdom	Parent, foster parent, or person caring for a disabled person who is receiving a family benefit; effective, April 2011, grandparents providing care for grandchildren.		
Sources: See Chapte	er 3, Country Profiles.		

Setting the Value of PCC for Unpaid Work

In a pension system that calculates benefits based on past wages, it is necessary to attribute to periods of unpaid caregiving some imaginary or "deemed" wages. The sample countries use different approaches (see Table 3). Here too, the optimal approach depends on the objective of the system. If the objective is to prevent poverty and assist low-income women, the value of the credit should be generous for this group. Germany and Sweden use effective methods in this regard, basing PCC not on the parent's earnings but on the average wage in the country: a woman or man with low skills and little earning potential may be credited with an amount that exceeds previous or current earnings. 9 The United Kingdom and Canada provide PCC in the form of a reduction in the years required for pension qualification. This approach ensures that years of care do not diminish a care provider's pension amount below what she/he would be awarded based on earnings alone. This approach tends to be regressive, however, providing the largest benefit to women and men with high wages. Using the minimum wage as the basis for crediting, as in France, or 20 percent of the median income, as in Finland, makes the credit less attractive for those with greater earnings potential, and it also has a reduced capacity to prevent old-age poverty among lower-income recipients.

Country	
Canada	Drop-out years are provided for both first and second tiers of pension system. Each year of childcare is excluded from both the averaging period in the first-tier pension calculation, and from the contributory period under the second-tier earnings-related scheme.
Finland	For various parental benefits (maternity, paternity, parental), the credit amount to approximately 80 percent of salary.
	For child home-care leave, a flat, deemed monthly amount, equal to about one-fifth the average wage, is credited.
France	a. Pension credit for parents. Four-quarters of care for birth, and four additional credits for four years of educating the child.
	b. Old-age insurance for parents with little or no earnings. The minimum wage
	c. Pension bonuses for many children. Paid without respect to a reference wage.
Germany	For three-year credit, the average covered wage.
	For children up to age 10, caregiver's part-time earnings are topped up by 50 percent in credit computation
	Those with two or more children under age 10 receive a credit of 33 percent of the average wage, to top up any earnings. 10
Japan	Actual earnings in the year prior to taking leave.
Sweden	For parental leave, 80 percent of the previous wage up to a ceiling for 390 days, plus 90 days at a daily flat rate of SEK180.
	For qualified childcare periods, the higher of 1) actual earnings the year before the child was born, 2) 75 percent of the average wage, or 3) for parents who work, a single, flat amount plus contributions from earnings.
United Kingdom	For the Basic State Pension, each year of childcare reduces by one the number of years required to qualify for a full pension, down to a minimum of 20 years.
	For the Second State Pension, earnings are deemed to be equal to the "Lower Earnings Threshold" (GBP13,624 per year in 2008).

Role of PCC in the Pension Formula

The sample countries show that PCC may be counted in different parts of the pension benefit formula, and that these seeming technicalities are of considerable importance for the reach and impact of crediting. The key questions are three-fold:

Does PCC help to establish eligibility for a pension, or does it serve only to boost the pension amount of women and men who are already eligible by virtue of their paid work? This distinction is clear in the United Kingdom, which today provides significant caring credit for women and men who can also meet three additional pension eligibility criteria based upon employment. As explained in Chapter 3, the United Kingdom is removing those criteria as a way of extending the reach of PCC to larger numbers of low-income women in the near term. Similarly, in Germany, where PCC is counted in the minimum five-year contribution period required for a pension, a mother of two children with no paid work history can now qualify for a pension based on PCC alone. These policies differ from those of Sweden, where PCC adds to pension adequacy only after an employee has met the eligibility requirement with five years of contributions.

How does the PCC count for purposes of a minimum or residential pension? Sweden counts all earnings-related pension income in determining eligibility for its minimum pension. As a result, PCC under the earnings-related pension system serves to reduce the need for minimum pension benefits. ¹¹ In Finland, by contrast, PCC provided under the earnings-related scheme is disregarded in determining eligibility for the residence pension, easing women's access to this national minimum pension.

Is the PCC implemented prospectively, or instead applied retroactively to caregiving done before enactment of the credit rule? As shown in Chapter 3, Germany took the former approach in expanding PCC in 1992. As a result, it will take several decades for these improvements to have a significant impact on women's pensions. By contrast, the United Kingdom adopted reforms in 2007 that will extend more liberal treatment to credit earned before enactment, opening the door to a more rapid impact on older women's retirement security.¹²

Rules for Receipt of PCC and Concurrent Work

All but one of the seven countries (Finland) allow some employment earnings simultaneous with the accrual of PCC (see Table 4). Japan allows parents to work part-time, while crediting them at the full-time wages they received during the previous year (these previous wages are credited regardless of employment status). This is a generous crediting policy, but one that provides no pension reward for employment. Germany, on the other hand, vigorously encourages labor force participation by providing a 50 percent boost in the value of PCC contributions for parents who work part time and are in receipt of PCC.

Country	
Canada	Part-time work is allowed.
Finland	Working parents cannot accrue PCC.
France	a. Pension credit for parents, employment allowed.
	b. Old-age insurance for parents with little or no income, allowed up to a wage ceiling that effectively limits activity to part-time work.
	c. Pension bonus for three or more children, accrued without regard to employment.
Germany	Allowed and encouraged by an additional top-up credit.
Japan	Allowed with part-time workers paying contributions on current wages but receiving benefits based on previous full-time pay.
Sweden	Allowed.
United Kingdom	Allowed, with a cap on the credit of GBP87 per week.

On first consideration, it might seem inconsistent to allow employment concurrent with the award of a PCC, which is often considered as a way to compensate women for time spent out of the workforce. If one of the purposes of crediting is poverty alleviation, however, allowing at least some work is helpful. It enables caregivers to enhance family income today and, at the same time, to supplement their retirement income with PCC, thus boosting future pension adequacy in two ways. In addition, part-time work helps sustain a caregiver's ties with the labor force, making it easier for her or him to resume full-time employment over the life course. In principle, to the extent that PCC systems are conceived in recognition of the value of unpaid work, the rearing of children and informal care for the elderly or disabled should be credited regardless of labor force status.

Some form of targeting is utilized in each of the countries to prevent relatively affluent or well-paid professional women who can afford to drop out temporarily from attracting the bulk of the financing available for the credit. For example, in Canada indirect targeting is achieved by linking pension crediting to a tax benefit that is itself targeted toward low-income families, whereas in France targeting is achieved by limiting the amounts that a parent can earn while receiving pension credit (see Table 2).

Financing

The sample countries finance PCC from five sources:

- the pension scheme itself, through a cross-subsidy from those paying contributions to those providing care;
- the general government budget, which shifts the financing burden to taxpayers at large;
- another agency budget within the government;
- contributions withheld from a benefit paid to the caregiver; or,
- taxes on capital income.

Only the United Kingdom finances PCC entirely from the general government budget, while two countries, Canada and Japan, finance it entirely from pension contributions. The others have mixed financing sources (see Table 5).

Table 5. Fin	ancing of Credit
Country	
Canada	Pension system (cross-subsidies).
Finland	For maternity, paternity, and parental leave: pension insurance scheme (cross-subsidies).
	For child home care allowance: transfer from the state budget.
France	The Old-Age Solidarity Fund, which receives revenues from 1) the state family assistance budget, 2) a two percent tax surcharge on capital gains, and 3) employer contributions.
Germany	Transfer from state budget.
Japan	Pension system (cross-subsidies).
Sweden	For parental leave: the social insurance scheme (cross subsidies).
	For childcare leave: transfer from the state budget.
United Kingdom	Transfer from state budget.
Sources: See Chapte	r 3, Country Profiles.

For public pension systems, the sample countries suggest there may be advantages to financing from within the pension system. First, internal financing may provide greater stability for PCC systems over time (Fultz, Ruck, and Steinhilber 2003). Such stability is observed in Canada and Japan, where PCC has undergone only minor changes in the years since it was created (see Chapter 3). Internal financing is sometimes criticized as obscuring PCC costs. Critics who use this argument prefer the use of general revenues, holding that it increases the transparency of pension accounting, bringing to public attention and scrutiny the exact costs of PCC. The World Bank has taken this position in providing technical assistance to developing countries on pension restructuring (Fultz, Ruck, and Steinhilber 2003).

The picture that emerges from these countries, however, is more nuanced. While Sweden and Finland make general revenue transfers based on careful cost calculations, Germany, with external financing, provides only a lump-sum appropriation that is considerably short of the real costs of crediting. Canada, in contrast, with internal financing of crediting from pension scheme revenues, makes exact calculations, including an estimate of how much lower the contribution rate for wage earners would be without PCC. This mixed picture suggests that transparency is more a feature of general governance in a country than of any particular financing method.

A second advantage of internal financing is that it recognizes childbearing as critical to the generational contract that underlies all public pension finance. This dependence was recognized most explicitly in a 1986 case before the Federal Constitutional Court of Germany, as described in Chapter 3. The Constitutional Court asserted, the equality between family care giving and paid work as a matter of principle, noting the role of childrearing in fulfilling the intergenerational contract underlying Germany's pension system. On this basis, it ordered the government to increase PCC.

This decision provides an important reminder that pension systems can only keep their promises to tomorrow's retirees if there are enough workers tomorrow to pay the needed pension contributions *and* to produce the food, clothing, housing, and services that retirees will use their benefits to buy. In this sense, the Constitutional Court offered a strong rationale not only for PCC as a basic feature of public pension systems but also for placing its financing within those systems, so that all contributors support family caregiving. ¹³

Chapter 3. Country Profiles

Canada

Canada is a relatively young country, with an employment rate for women of around 58 percent in 2009 (Statistics Canada 2010) similar to that of the United States at 59 percent (United States Census Bureau 2011). Women's jobs are concentrated in the public sector and one-quarter of women work part-time. At 20 percent, the gender pay gap is significant (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 2010). Despite its relatively young population, , Canada's fertility rate is low at 1.5 children per woman—well below the 2.1 needed for population replacement. Along with increasing life expectancy, this low rate is fueling population aging. The ratio of those 65 and older to the working population, quite favorable now at 17 per 100 workers, is projected to more than double by 2028, to 37 per 100. While this is not an unsustainable ratio, the shift will place substantial demands on pension systems.

In 1977, Canada adopted the Child Rearing Provision (CRP) (OECD 2007, 2009; Social Security Administration (SSA) and International Social Security Administration (ISSA) 2008). The provision allows a primary caregiver to exclude up to seven years from the pension benefit calculation for periods of caring for a child less than seven years old (OECD 2005). CRP can also be used in determining eligibility for disability and survivors' benefits. Either parent, or a partner of a parent, may provide the care, although only one of them may use the dropout provision for any given period. The caregiver or the caregiver's partner must provide the child's birth certificate and have been receiving Family Allowance payments or have been eligible for the Canada Child Tax Benefit to receive the CRP benefit. In addition, the person providing care must have either stopped working or cut back to part-time.

The credit is financed from within the pension system. The current costs are estimated by Canada's Office of the Chief Actuary at 620 million Canadian dollars (Can\$620 million). This represents 2.3 percent of the total annual benefit expenditure of the Canada Pension Plan (Can\$27 billion, 2007) and 0.2 percent of covered wages. The cost is considerably less than was projected when the program was initiated in 1977, with the discrepancy reflecting the fact that the current fertility rate (1.5) is lower and labor force participation rates are higher than projected. The cost is considerably less than was projected when the program was initiated in 1977, with the discrepancy reflecting the fact that the current fertility rate (1.5) is lower and labor force participation rates are higher than projected.

Finland

Finland has in place a bundle of policy measures to promote gender equality and high female employment rates (Laitinen and Tuominen 2006; Tuominen 2005; Zaidi 2007). Relative to its national child care system and separate taxation of spouses, the PCC likely has smaller effects on women's labor force participation. These policies, which date to the 1970s, resulted in women's employment rates approaching those of men by the 1990s, surpassing those of French, German, and British women, as well as those of U.S. women. The employment rate of older Finnish women is almost identical to that of men: as of 2008, 56 percent of Finnish women aged 55–64 were still working, compared to 57 percent for men (Tuominen 2005). Still the gender wage gap is relatively high at 20 percent, compared to the EU average of 17 percent (Eurostat 2011c).

In 2005, Finland enacted major pension reforms to prepare for population aging: The minimum retirement age was raised by two years and flexibility introduced enabling workers to retire between ages 62 and 68, but these changes were combined with financial incentives to continue working (Tuominen 2005). A demographic factor was added to the pension formula to ensure that pension replacement rates will automatically decline as average life expectancy rises, thereby reducing pressures on pension finance. The relation between contributions and benefits has also been tightened: the earnings-related pension is now based on total career earnings rather than on the last ten years. As a result, the replacement rate for many Finnish workers will decline. For example, middle income workers retiring at age 65 after 49 years of employment will, on average, receive 67 percent of their previous wages in 2050, compared to 74 percent in 2005 (European Commission 2006).

Since the global financial crisis in the fall of 2008, Finnish pension financing imbalances have rekindled discussions of reform. In 2010, the Finnish government proposed raising the minimum retirement age from 62 to 65. The major national trade union federations resisted, calling instead for voluntary measures to encourage longer working life. A national commission was created to consider how to boost the average age of leaving the workforce.

Both the 2005 reforms and those currently under discussion pose a risk of reducing the standard of living for many older Finnish women. To help avoid this, the PCC for certain unpaid activities was improved and harmonized with eligibility for short-term social security benefits. Specifically, the 2005 reform provided PCC benefits to all parents who receive short-term benefits related to the birth and early care of children, such as maternity, paternity, parental leave, and child-care home leave. Pension crediting was extended as well for those workers who receive short-term social security benefits for sickness, unemployment, employment injury, and rehabilitation, and for certain forms of training.

Reflecting Finland's strong emphasis on gender equality, either parent may receive PCC for periods when they receive a cash benefit. The maternity benefit is available for 105 days, the paternity benefit for 18 days, and parental leave (which can be split between parents) for 158 days for the first child, with 60 additional days for second and subsequent children. Further, there is a bonus for fathers who take at least two weeks of parental leave—an optional 12 weekdays of additional father's leave. Recently, a national publicity campaign has been urging fathers to make greater use of these benefits. The maximum paid leave and benefit period is 11 months. A child home-care allowance, payable until the child turns three, also triggers eligibility for PCC. These periods during which PCC accrues are considerably shorter than those provided in several other countries in the sample, such as the United Kingdom (12 years), Germany (10 years), Canada (7 years), and Sweden (about 5.5 years).

For maternity, paternity, and parental leave, the PCC is based on the benefit amount, which is 70 percent of the salary forgone, multiplied by a factor (1.17). This results in a cash payment equal to about 80 percent of the parent's wage. For periods of unpaid leave during which the child home-care allowance is received, PCC is based on a deemed, flat-rate amount of EUR 556.60 per month, equal roughly to one fifth of the average wage. PCC is provided only for the earnings-

related part of the pension scheme (Gesellschaft für Versicherungswissenschaft und Gestaltung (GVG) 2009).

Compared to the other six sample countries, Finland is exceptional in that a parent receiving PCC cannot be employed.

PCC is financed by the pension system through cross-subsidies from other contributors, except for the child home-care allowance, which is financed by a transfer from the state budget (Tuominen 2005).

France

The French pension system is fragmented, consisting of nearly 200 separate payas-you-go schemes for different groups of workers. The largest of these is the general scheme (*le régime général*), which covers private sector workers and accounts for 60 percent of national pension expenditures. France also has a minimum pension (EUR 599 per month, in 2005) with a declining number of recipients, due to the expansion of earnings-related schemes. The French pension system's wage replacement rates are relatively high, with the average benefit equal to about 80 percent of average net wages. As a result of a reform enacted in 2010 under the sponsorship and strong endorsement of French President Nicolas Sarkozy, the minimum age for retirement increased from age 60 to 62; and those who claim a full pension must wait till age 67, rather than 65 (The Guardian 2010).

At 1.9 births per woman, France's fertility rate is the highest among the sample countries and considerably higher than the European Union rate, 1.56 births per woman.²¹ Similarly, at 60 percent, the female employment rate exceeds that of the European Union.²² This combination of relatively high fertility and relatively high female employment rates is explainable in part by the French government's involvement in family policy and its use of family policy to promote population growth. Among the sample countries, it has the widest range of PCCs. These are available for parents who work full-time, those who have little or no earnings, and those who have many children, regardless of employment status. Eligibility rules vary across France's many pension schemes, creating a very complex picture. Except as noted, a description of the rules of the general scheme follows.

PCC for Parents Who Work Full-Time

Since 1972, mothers of two children can receive a one-year supplement to their records that count toward their required period of pension insurance (Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites 2008).²³ This supplement (known in France by its initials, MDA) required only that the mother live with the children, not that she ceases working. In 1975, this credit was extended to cover as well mothers with one child, and the period of coverage was increased to two years per child (Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites 2008). The credit is earned incrementally, with one-quarter of a year of coverage for each year that a woman raises a child, with a maximum of two years coverage per child, earned after eight years of childrearing. For a woman near retirement age who is short of the number of work years needed for a full pension, the supplement allows her to retire earlier with full benefits.

In 2004, under the influence of EU law, this PCC was extended to fathers (Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites 2008). However, it was at the same time restricted

to parents (mother or father) who take a break of at least two months from paid employment. As virtually all new mothers take leave of this duration, and very few new fathers do so, the new policy in practice continues to target PCC tightly to women.²⁴ In 2010, this PCC was further revised to award four quarters to a mother for giving birth or adopting a child, and four more for keeping the child in school, at a rate of one credit per completed year of education (Liaisons Sociales Quotidien 2010). The new law allows the parents to allocate the credit to the father; the default continues to be awarded to the mother.

Some two million women receive the PCC for full-time workers, at annual cost of about three billion euros (EUR 3 billion). The Family Allowance Agency budget covers the cost of crediting. According to Bonnet (2006), women now approaching retirement will see an average increase of three insured years due to this PCC.

PCC for Parents with Little or No Earnings

A second PCC is available to parents who do not work, or work part-time, *and* receive one of a variety of French family benefits, while caring for either a child under age three, a child or adult with a disability, or at least three children. Two-parent households are restricted to monthly earned income of roughly EUR 350, though single parents are not restricted in this way. The PCC is computed as if the parent were earning the minimum wage. Depending on the number of children and the age differences among them, the PCC can continue for 20 or more years. Caregiving credits can also be available for full-time workers, as described above (the MDA). If the parent works, the earnings top up this PCC (Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites 2008).

Pension Bonuses for Multiple Children

Since 1945 French parents of three or more children (mothers and fathers) have been entitled to a bonus in their retirement benefits. The bonus is for children born or raised. In the general scheme, it raises the pension by ten percent. Bonnet reports that among current retirees, over 40 percent of French men and women see increases in their pensions from the bonus (Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites 2008).

In 2004, the Pensions Advisory Council (COR) raised the possibility of merging the three PCCs and designing a single system based on more precise objectives. ²⁵ The Council invited public discussion as to whether the credit should be designed to compensate for time out of the workforce spent raising children, to encourage more equal sharing of family caregiving between women and men, or to raise the employment level of women closer to that of men. The members pointed out that the design features of a new system would depend on its objectives. The appropriate pension rights for caregiving and possible consolidation of these proposed schemes remain open topics of discussion in France (Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites 2008).

Germany

Germany is the most populous country in the European Union and also has one of Europe's lowest fertility rates, at 1.4 births per woman (UN 2007). Low fertility dates back to the 1970s and has been the focus of much German media attention and research. Of note from a family policy perspective are the relatively low rates of public childcare available for children younger than three years of age, compared with children aged three to six: 7 percent versus 89 percent, respectively. The employment rate of German women, at 66 per cent, significantly exceeds rates in France (60 per cent) and the European Union generally (59 percent), although the rate reflects high rates of 'short' or part-time employment and remains well below those of the Nordic countries (in addition it reflects very high rates of part-time jobs of less than 20 hours per week). There is a significant difference between labor force participation rates of women, and particularly mothers, in the East and West of the country, with higher rates in the East. In addition to economic and historical factors, this is due to the differential availability of child care, particularly for children below three years of age (Klenner and Haskova 2010).

Germany's pension system relies on a pension points system (OECD 2009). Under the point system, in a particular year each worker's earnings are related to the average wage. A worker with average earnings is credited with one pension point per year, while a worker with a lower wage receives a proportionate fraction of a point, and one with a higher wage receives a proportionate boost. Because the point system results in benefits that are proportionate to wages, it does not allow for the sort of redistribution to low-income workers that occurs in the U.S. benefit formula.²⁸ Given the lower average wages of women, the point system disadvantages them as a group relative to a redistributive formula.

The German Constitutional Court has played a strong role in shaping pension legislation, including PCC. Prior to 1986, Germany provided a very modest PCC for six months of maternity leave. In that year, childrearing was recognized by the Constitutional Court as of equal importance with paid work, and entitlement to pension rights was extended to child rearing periods as well, for one year period per child.²⁹ In 1989, Germany again revised the PCC formula, extending the crediting period to three years for each child born after 1992 (Bundesgesetzblatt I (BGBI) 1989).³⁰ PCC was awarded on the basis of 75 percent of the average wage in the economy, with an increase to 100 percent from the year 2000 (BGBI I 1997). The law also allowed caregivers for persons with disabilities to claim credit, without any time limit.

The Pension Reform Act of 2001 further expanded the German PCC. For an employed parent providing care for one or more children under the age of ten, the reform tops up the value of the worker's contributions by 50 percent, up to an amount derived from the average wage in the economy. For a non-employed parent of two or more children (at least one of whom must be younger than ten), the reform provided credit based on one third of the average wage. It also made the credit additive, allowing PCC from one source to be combined with other pension credits (Verband Deutscher Versicherungstraeger (VDR) 2001).

As a result of this crediting, the government estimates the additional pension entitlement for raising two children at EUR 9,100 per year. Long-term projections show that the PCC will boost the pensions of women with two children and an interrupted employment history from 44 percent of the pension of a woman with a full employment career as of 2008 to a level of 66 percent by 2050 (GVG 2009).

PCC is financed in part by government transfers of general revenues to the pension scheme, equal to roughly EUR 12 billion yearly. In past years, financing was fully covered from general revenues. The practice has evolved in the direction of a flat amount, which today falls well short of the value of the aggregate credit.

Starting in 2001, the German government provided a PCC under a new supplemental savings scheme, known as the Riester pension.³¹ The scheme, sponsored by the state, is voluntary for workers and is most heavily used by women and in areas of the former East Germany (Riedmüllerand Willert 2008). This credit takes the form of an additional, end-of-year deposit into the individual pension account of a parent who has a Riester pension.³²

Recent discussion of the German pension system reveals two schools of thought on these expansions of PCC. One perspective emphasizes their positive role in helping to prevent poverty among large numbers of older women (GVG 2009). Given Germany's requirement of five years of contributions to qualify for a pension, the mother of two children can establish pension eligibility based on pension credit alone. The other perspective holds that, despite a woman's ability to receive pension credit while working, this expansion consolidates the traditional breadwinner model that underlies Germany's pension system, making it easier for women to gain a pension by staying at home (Anderson and Meyer 2006). While work disincentives resulting from generous crediting could be a serious drawback, recent experience fails to reveal any obvious impact in terms of declining labor force participation rates for women. On the contrary, as noted above, the labor force participation rate of German women is high.

Japan

Japan has the oldest population in the developed world, with the proportion of people over the age of 65 exceeding 20 percent in 2005, and projected to rise to 40 percent by 2050. Average life expectancy edged over 81 years in 2008—while fertility remained very low—at just under 1.27 births per woman (UN 2007). In explaining their reluctance to have children, Japanese couples frequently cite the high cost of housing and higher education. Most men make limited contributions to family caregiving, and the traditional practice of living in extended families, where older members care for children, is less and less common. Further disincentives exist in the workplace, where many employers are resistant to the law granting new mothers or fathers a year of family leave. Despite government initiatives to increase formal childcare, it continues to be in much shorter supply than in Western Europe. Together these factors result in a large gap between male and female employment rates, which in 2009 stood at 49 percent for women versus 72 percent for men (Statistics Bureau Japan 2010).

The demographic imbalance between the active and inactive population is not being eased by immigration, which hovered close to zero as of 2008. Together,

these factors — long life, low fertility, and minimal immigration — place a heavy strain on pension finance, which will increase in the future.

The Japanese pension system consists of two tiers: a flat-rate basic pension paid to all scheme participants and a second, earnings-related tier that applies only to workers. Financing is pay-as-you-go. Fifty percent of first-tier revenues are from general revenues; the other half, from contributions. The second tier is financed totally from contributions. A pension is payable after 25 years of work, with 40 years of work required for a full benefit. The retirement age is 65, with early retirement options beginning at age 60. The wage replacement rate for the two tiers combined is close to 60 percent for an average male worker and dependent wife (Takayama 2009). With the recent inclusion of a factor in the benefit formula that will automatically adjust pension amounts as the ratio of workers to pensioners decreases (as in Finland and Germany), the replacement rate will drop to around 50 percent in 2023.

The system provides the full, flat-rate basic pension for full-time housewives, for which no contributions are paid. There were about 10.8 million women in this category of scheme membership in 2007, or about 15 percent of the total number of insured persons (Takayama 2009). This benefit is a source of growing public contention, especially among single women, who tend to be self-supporting, and couples with two earners, whose numbers are increasing.

The pension system includes PCC for mothers taking up to 14 weeks of maternity leave and for parents taking childcare leave for up to one year, shared by couples as they choose. These were enacted into law in 1995, as part of a government initiative to encourage higher birth rates, in part by making work environments more family friendly. During maternity leave, the woman receives a cash benefit equal to 60 percent of wages, while during subsequent periods of childcare leave, the benefit is 50 percent of the care provider's previous wage. The PCC for childcare is, however, more generous, based on 100 percent of the wages the parent earned in the previous year. Parents may work during childcare leave, but these earnings are not included in the benefit calculation. No contributions are paid for PCC, which is instead financed within the pension system by cross-subsidies from the contributions of employed workers (Takayama 2009).

Sweden

At 70.2 percent (Eurostat 2011a), Sweden has the highest female employment rate among the sample countries and a fertility rate that stands at 1.8 births per woman, second only to France (UN 2007). Like France as well, Sweden provides strong support for families through an extensive social security system. This support complements national labor market policies that strongly promote female activation.

In the mid-1990s, pension reforms in Sweden, like those in many EU countries, aimed at strengthening financial solvency and sustainability in the face of population aging (OECD 2007, 2009; Regeringskansliet 2007). The reforms eliminated the calculation of benefits based on the best 15 years of earnings in favor of a notional defined contribution (NDC) scheme. NDC schemes base pension amounts on the total lifetime contributions that each worker pays. At retirement, pensions are

calculated by "stretching" each worker's contributions over his/her remaining life expectancy (assumed to equal that of his/her age cohort). As a result, Swedish pension benefits will automatically decrease as life expectancy increases, unless workers choose to delay retirement.

As a result of these and other reforms, the average public pension benefit is projected to drop from 53 percent of the average net wage in 2005 to 40 percent by 2050 (European Commission 2006). If occupational pensions are counted (today, they cover more than 90 percent of Swedish workers), the replacement rate is projected to fall from 71 percent today to 57 percent in 2050 (European Commission 2006). In this context, PCC has become an increasingly important tool to prevent the erosion of retirement benefits among parents who take time off from work to care for young children. ³⁶

Sweden's PCC has two components: 1) parental leave and benefits (which include maternity) and 2) subsequent childcare. The parental leave and benefit extend for 390 days with a cash benefit of about 80 percent of the parent's previous earnings up to a ceiling. For an additional 90 days, the benefit is flat-rate, SEK 180 per day. Parental leave days can be taken until the child is eight years old. The leave and benefit can be divided between parents, except that two months are reserved on a use-or-lose basis for the parent who makes less use of the provisions—in most cases, the father. Fathers are also encouraged to make greater use of this leave by a tax break that is extended when parental leave is equally shared. The benefit received for these days is treated as pensionable income and subject to pension contributions: the parent her/himself must pay the 7 percent contribution that is normally deducted from her/his wage, while the social insurance agency pays the employer's share of 10.2 percent. The latter is reimbursed from general revenues (GVG 2009). These PPCs are independent of the special pension crediting for child care, described below.

The second component, childcare pension credit, extends for up to four years. Here the pension credit can be computed based on: 1) the caregiver's income in the preceding year; 2) for caregivers who had low earnings prior to taking leave, 75 percent of average earnings across the economy; or 3) for caregivers who work during leave, a single, flat amount plus contributions from earnings. The social insurance agency chooses the most favorable option for the caregiver (GVG 2009). The generosity of this policy reflects Sweden's recognition that withdrawal from the workforce for childcare may have long-term consequences for the caregiver's earnings and, as a consequence, her/his pension adequacy.

Only one parent can receive PCC for a given year. If both parents fulfill the caring requirement, they may choose which parent will take the credit. If they fail to choose (i.e., to notify the social insurance office), the parent with the lowest pension base receives PCC. Parents with additional children during the child's first four years receive pension credit for only one of the children for any one year.

For a parent to receive a pension, he or she must satisfy what the Swedish scheme refers to as the *earned income requirement*: employment for at least five years with annual earnings exceeding a threshold.³⁷ Pension credit for childcare is not counted unless the five-year work requirement is met.

Two additional types of pensions exist in Sweden: 1) a mandatory individual savings scheme known as the Premium Pension, created in 1994 as part of the reforms described above, in which 2.5 percent of each worker's contribution is saved and invested, and 2) occupational pensions, negotiated through collective bargaining for more than 90 percent of the Swedish workforce. The social insurance agency pays contributions to the Premium Pension for those receiving parental benefits, while transfers from the state budget cover pension contributions for those taking childcare leave. For occupational pensions, the government recommends that employers contribute to an employee's pension for periods of up to 11 months for parental leave and most employers do so.

United Kingdom

The employment rate of British women stood at 65 percent in 2009, above the U.S. rate (59 percent; U.S. Census Bureau 2011) and that of the European Union (58.6 percent; Eurostat 2011a). With about 75 percent of British men employed, the gap between women's and men's employment rates is comparable with that in the United States (59 versus 72 percent; U.S. Census Bureau 2011) but below the Scandinavian countries (Sweden, 70.2 versus 74.2 percent, and Finland, 67.9 and 69.5 percent; Eurostat 2011a).

By European standards, UK public pensions are low, poverty rates among the elderly are high, although declining in recent years, and the gender pay gap is relatively large (OECD 2007, 2009). This last characteristic is reflected in average pension payments to women and men. While roughly 85 percent of men reach retirement age with a full Basic State Pension, only 30 percent of women do. In recent years, an enhanced PCC has gained attention as one way to mitigate this gender disparity. In 2009, Alistair Darling, then British Chancellor, announced the thrust of prospective changes: "Increasingly grandparents play a big role in family life and in looking after their grandchildren. To reflect this, we will, for the first time, ensure that these caring responsibilities for grandparents of working age will count towards their entitlement for the Basic State Pension." (Gammell 2009).

The first statutory recognition of family caregiving was enacted in the United Kingdom in 1978 (Vlachantomi 2009). This PCC counted the period of care as pension qualifying years, but without crediting any level of wages. As it is suited to a flat-rate pension scheme, this approach continues today. However, repeated reforms have caused the number of years of contributions required for women to qualify for the full Basic State Pension to vary considerably — between 20 and 39 years. Years of family caregiving are subtracted from the required total, thus making it easier to qualify.

In 2002, the State Second Pension was created as a means to help workers with low earnings build up pension entitlements. Under this pension, PCC was provided for certain periods when no wages were earned, including periods of caring (Vlachantomi 2009).

In 2005 and 2006, the UK Department for Work and Pensions released white papers proposing modifications of the PCC. Most of these provisions were enacted by Parliament in 2007 and 2008 and took effect in 2010 (Lhernould et al. 2010). These

reforms are part of a broad strategy to improve the state pension for workers with lower incomes, while encouraging greater private pension provision for workers at the middle and upper end of the income scale.³⁸

In addition, in 2009, the UK government provided funding for pension crediting for grandparents, effective April of 2011.

To cast light on the impact of these reforms, it is useful first to consider the PCC system that was amended:

- Carers are credited with qualifying years for the Basic State Pension if they receive either the cash Child Benefit (for a parent) or the Carer's Allowance (paid to the care provider of a person receiving a disability benefit). Under the old system, each year so credited reduced by one the number of years needed to qualify for this flat-rate pension. Women needed 39 years of coverage, while men need 44 years. PCC could reduce these years to 20 but not below it (GVG 2009). PCC could continue until a child reached age 16; the care of a disabled person could be credited so long as the Carer's Allowance continues.
- For the earnings-related State Second Pension, family caregivers received PCC based on the same criteria, that is, receipt of the Child Benefit or Carer's Allowance. For this pension, however, they were credited at a deemed amount equal to the Lower Earnings Threshold (GBP13,624 for 2008). Such credit was provided until a child reaches age six and, for those receiving the Carer's Allowance, so long as it continued to be paid.
- For those providing care but not receiving a cash payment, pension qualifying years could still be reduced under the Basic State Pension, and credited under the State Second Pension, if the carer was earning at or above another threshold in British pension regulations, the Lower Earnings Limit (GBP4,368).³⁹
- Three additional regulations limited the PCC: 1) the 25 percent de minimis rule, which required an individual to have accumulated at least 25 percent of the years required for the full pension (that is, 10 years for women and 11 years for men); 2) The *I*st contribution rule, which required that at least one of these years be gained through paid contributions (i.e., from employment); and 3) the *labor market attachment test*, which required that individuals have paid contributions for at least ten percent of their working lives.

The reforms that took effect in 2010 eliminated these three rules, thus opening the door for substantial numbers of women (and some men as well) to qualify for pensions based on caregiving. To open the entitlement door still further, the 2010 amendments also:

- Reduce from 39 years for women and 44 years for men the time required to qualify for the full Basic State Pension, to a new, gender neutral minimum threshold of 30 years;
- Make PCC directly proportional to the fraction of this 30-year period that a person spends caring (eliminating the 20-year floor), thus providing pension rights to anyone who has contributed for a single period. Combining of noncontributory and contributory credit for the State Second Pension within a given tax year is also allowed.

- Provide PCC for anyone having caring responsibilities for at least 20 hours for another person who needs care (whether or not the person or the carer receives a cash benefit); and,
- Make the maximum duration of the credit consistent across the two public pensions. Whereas carers could previously receive pension qualifying reductions for children up to age 16 for the Basic State Pension and, for the State Second Pension, for children up to age six, the new rules allow care for children up to age 12 to qualify for both pensions.

As noted above, legislation adopted in 2009 extends credit for the first time to grandparents who are not working and who provide at least 20 hours of care per week for a grandchild under the age of 12, effective April 2011.

According to government projections, the combination of eased access to pension entitlements and improvement in the ability to accumulate qualifying periods based on caregiving will immediately raise to 70 percent (from 30 percent) the number of women who will qualify for the full Basic State Pension. By 2025, the rate is expected to rise to 90 percent for both men and women. Moreover, the government projects that an additional 780,000 women (and 30,000 men) will qualify for State Second Pension.

The United Kingdom's PCC is financed from general state revenues. 40

Notes

- ¹ In addition, it may be linked to the receipt of an allowance for caring for a sick or disabled person.
- ²The U.S.fertility rate is near 2.1 births per woman (UN2007).
- ³ The Lisbon Strategy sought to raise the employment rates for older persons (aged 55–64) to 50 percent by 2010 and to 60 percent for women as a group. The attainment of these goals was thrown off course by the global economic crisis of 2008 and its aftermath. Europe 2020 calls for an increase in the employment rate of the aggregate working age population (20–64) from 69 percent (2010) to 75 percent (2020) (European Commission 2010; European Union 2000).
- ⁴ There is no single definition of social security for the European Union. However, EU case law has defined equal treatment with respect to social security. For example, Directive 79/7, Article 3, establishes the principle of non-discrimination in statutory social security schemes which provide protection against the following contingencies: sickness, disability, old age, accidents at work and occupational diseases, and unemployment. The directive also applies to social assistance, in so far as it is intended to supplement or replace these schemes. In contrast, the directive does not extend to survivors' or family benefits, except in case of family benefits granted as increases in respect of the contingencies referred to above.
- ⁵ They have done so as a first step by making these benefits available to either parent. Across the European Union, gender-neutral eligibility rules have been in effect for many years with little discernable impact on gendered patterns of family caregiving. Recognizing this, in more recent years some EU member states have reserved a portion of the childcare benefit and accompanying pension crediting period for fathers only, on a use-or-lose basis.
- ⁶ In addition, a growing number of countries are providing fertility services, including in vitro fertilization.
- ⁷ The exceptions are the United Kingdom and Germany. In both countries, women without children may qualify for PCC based on the care of disabled family members. In Germany, the new crediting rules are such that a woman with two children can qualify for a pension without having gainful employment.
- 8 In Germany, foster and adoptive parents are also eligible for PCC as well as grandparents or other relatives who have the main responsibility for the care of a child living in their household.
- ⁹ If provided along with an ample cash benefit, such rules might discourage work; crediting alone, however, seems unlikely to provide much of a work incentive or disincentive, as discussed previously.
- ¹⁰ As explained in Chapter 3, Germany uses the pension point system. The average wage is equal to one pension point and crediting is based on points.
- ¹¹ The Swedish minimum pension benefits workers with low earnings-related pensions, helping to prevent poverty and ensure the minimum adequacy of their retirement income. As the earnings related pension increases, it causes the minimum pension to phase out. Thus, when PCC boosts the earnings related pension, this increase in turn diminishes the minimum pension. The net effect is positive because it increases the caregiver's pension.
- ¹² A similar impact is achieved by providing credit for grandparents, as the United Kingdom did in 2009, allowing older women to boost their pensions through caring as they approach retirement age.
- ¹³ For private pensions, internal financing is not an option, since private providers face an economic disincentive to create such social elements. Were they to do so, they would attract a disproportionate share of parents, while childless workers would opt to join private pension funds that do not offer caring credit. In this case, general revenue financing of pension credit in private schemes, as is provided in Germany (the Riester pension) and in Sweden (the Premium Pension), can be regarded as good practice.

- ¹⁴ The Family Allowance program (often termed the "baby bonus") was paid monthly to parents or guardians of children under the age of 18, based on net family income plus the number and age of children. It was replaced in 1993 with the Canada Child Tax Benefit. The benefit is targeted toward families with low incomes, in 2008 less than Can\$38,832.
- ¹⁵ That is, without the PCC benefits, the contribution rate would be 9.6 percent instead of the current 9.8 percent. Personal communication, with Cathy Drummond, April 22, 2009.
- ¹⁶ Personal communication with Michel Montambeault, May 13, 2009.
- ¹⁷ Personal communication with Eila Tuominen, Finnish Center for Pensions, 28 April 2009.
- ¹⁸ For 2009, the employment rate was 67.9 percent for women and 69.5 percent for men (Eurostat 2011a).
- ¹⁹The pension accrual rate is 1.9 percent of countable wages per year of work between ages 53 and 62. Beginning with age 63 and extending until age 68, it is increased to 4.5 percent of yearly earnings (Tuominen 2005).
- ²⁰ In total, there are 194 basic pension schemes in France and 135 supplemental pension schemes. There are special schemes for agricultural, mining, railroad, public utility, and public sector employees; seamen; non-agricultural self-employed persons, and agricultural self-employed persons (Bonnet 2006).
- ²¹ 2008 figure, EU 27. (Eurostat 2011b).
- ²² The EU 27 rate was 58.6 percent for 2009 (Eurostat 2011a).
- ²³ The policy was enacted in 1971.
- ²⁴ France has mandatory maternity leave of eight weeks. For civil servants (outside the general scheme and ineligible for the supplement), a similar PCC was put in place in 2003, in the form of pension recognition of up to three years of parental leave.
- ²⁵ Personal communication with Marie-France Laroque, French Ministry of Employment and Solidarity, August 24, 2009.
- ²⁶ The Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, for one, has published extensively on this subject. See Neyer (2006).
- ²⁷Women's labor force participation is 73 percent in Denmark, 68 percent in Finland, and 70 percent in Sweden (Eurostat 2011a).
- ²⁸The point system does not eliminate redistribution altogether, however. Some redistribution can still be achieved by setting a ceiling and floor on the average value of the pension point per year of service. PCC provides another means of redistribution.
- ²⁹ Hohnerlein (2002) argues that the adoption of a PCC was in exchange for reductions in survivors' benefits (which were also mainly received by women).
- ³⁰ Parents of children born prior to 1992 received one year of credit.
- ³¹ Personal communication with Silke Steinhilber, independent consultant on gender issues, Berlin, August 25, 2009.
- ³² Occupational pensions are less developed in the former East Germany, which may account in part for this pattern. If parents are married, PCC is automatically credited to the mother. Fathers receive the PCC only if the parents agree, on a year-by-year basis. In cases of unmarried or separated partners, the recipient of the child allowance is entitled to PCC in her/his Riester account.
- ³³ One survey found that men in Japan spend less than 20 minutes per workday caring for children, about equal to the time spent by men in southern European countries.
- ³⁴ A key problem is that one parent has to take the entire period of leave.
- ³⁵ Another reform lowers wage replacement rates. Before pensions are computed, lifetime contributions are valorized or inflated so that those contributions paid in distant past years retain their real value. Here Sweden switched to basing valorization on changes in aggregate covered wages in the economy. This measure reflects both changes in wage levels and changes in the total numbers of workers. In the context of a shrinking workforce, over time this too will drive pension replacement rates down.

- ³⁶ As part of the reform, the ceiling on wages counted in computing parental leave benefits (as described above) was increased to 80 percent, and an extra 30 days of parental leave was provided and credited for pension purposes.
- ³⁷ The threshold is at least two income base amounts per year. The income base amount is used to set many social security benefits in Sweden. In 2011 one income base amount was equal to SEK 52,100, or US\$7,876.
- ³⁸ The UK pensions are less affected by population aging than in other European countries. While in the European Union as a whole, pension spending is projected to consume an additional 8.8 percent of GDP by 2050, in the United Kingdom, the figure is less than half of this.
- ³⁹ For the State Second Pension, the credit is computed based on deemed earnings of GBP13,624, that is, the Lower Earnings Threshold. Thus, those with earnings below the Lower Earnings threshold receive a credit that exceeds their actual earnings, while those with earnings above the threshold receive no additional credit for caregiving.
- ⁴⁰ Gesellschaft für Versicherungswissenschaft und Gestaltung (GVG) (2009).

References

- Anderson, Karen and Traute Meyer. 2006. "New Social Risks and Pension Reform in Germany and Sweden. The Politics of Pension Rights for Childcare". In *Post Industrial States. Politics and Policies*, eds. Klaus Armingeon and Giuliano Bonoli. Oxford, Abingdon: Routledge.
- Bonnet, Carole, Sophie Buffeteau and Bascal Godefroy. 2009. "Effects of Pension Reforms on Gender Inequality in France." *Population* 61(1): 41-70.
- Bundesgesetzblatt I (BGBl, Federal Law Gazette, Germany). 1997. 3003, 3013
- —1989. 2282 f.Conseil D'Orientation Des Retraites. 2008. *Retraites: droits familiaux et conjugaux*. La Documentation Français.
- European Commission. 2010. Europe 2020. http://ec.europa.eu/europe2020/index_en.htm (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- European Commission. 2006. Synthesis Report on Adequate and Sustainable Pensions: Technical Annex. European Commission. http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/social_protection/docs/2006/rapport_pensions_final_en.pdf (Accessed April 14, 2011)
- European Union. 2000. *Lisbon Strategy*. http://www.etuc.org/a/652 Accessed April 20, 2011)
- Eurostat. 2011a. "Employment Rate by Gender, 2009" http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY_PUBLIC/3-04082010-BP/EN/3-04082010-BP-EN.PDF (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- —2011b. *Fertility Statistics*. http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/statistics_explained/index.php/Fertility_statistics (Accessed May 2, 2011).
- —2011c. Gender wage gap in unadjusted form. http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/tgm/table.do?tab=table&init=1&plugin=1&language=en&pcode=tsiem040 (Accessed May 2, 2011).
- Fultz, Elaine, Markus Ruck, and Silke Steinhilber, eds. 2003. *The Gender Dimensions of Social Security Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe: Case Studies of the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland.* Budapest: ILO Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe. http://www.ilo.org/public/libdoc/ilo/2003/103B09_160_engl.pdf (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- Gammel, Kara. 2009. "Grandparent carers to get pension credits in Budget 2009". *The-Telegraph*. April 22, 2009. http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/personalfinance/how-budget-affect-me/5202811/Grandparent-carers-to-get-pension-credits-in-Budget-2009.html (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- Gesellschaft für Versicherungswissenschaft und Gestaltung (GVG). 2009. *The Socio-Economic Impact of Pension Systems on Women*. Draft report prepared for the European Commission, Directorate General for Employment, Social Affairs, and Equal Opportunity.
- The Guardian. 2010. "French Retirement Age Change to 62 Becomes Law." *The Guardian*. November 10, 2010. http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2010/nov/10/french-retirement-age-reform-62> (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- Hohnerlein, Eva Maria. 2002. "Policy Measures in German Public Pension System to Cope with Low Fertility." *Journal of Population and Social Security* (March). http://www.ipss.go.jp/webj-ad/WebJournal.files/SocialSecurity/2002/02mar/Hohnerlein.pdf (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- International Labor Organization (ILO). 1952. "Convention 102 (Social Security Minimum Standard)" http://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/secsoc/areas/legal/conv102. htm> (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- Klenner, Christina and Hana Haskova. 2010. "Variations of the Dual Earner Model: A Comparison of the Czech Republic and Germany. In: *Welfare States and Gender Inequality in Central and Eastern Europe*, eds. Klenner, Christina and Simone Leiber. Brussels: International Trade Union Confederation.
- Laitinen, Sini and Eila Tuominen. 2006. *The Changing Division of Labor within the Family and the Responses of Public Policy*. Finnish Center for Pensions. Working papers 2006:4.

- Lhernould, Jean-Philippe; Simon Roberts; Silke Steinhilber; and Irena Woycicka. 2010. "Study of the Gender Dimension and Discrimination in Social Protection." Unpublished report to the European Commission, Directorate General for Employment, Social Affairs, and Equal Opportunities. Warsaw and Gdansk: WYG International and Gdansk Institute for Market Economics.
- Liaisons Sociales Quotidien. 2010. *Retraite: les peres ont un delai limite pour demander la majoration pour enfant*. Liaisons Sociales Quotidien. 25 Juin 2010, No 15639.
- Neyer, Gerda. 2006. "Family Policies and Fertility in Europe: Fertility Policies at the Intersection of Gender Policies, Employment Policies and Care Policies." MPIDR Working Paper WP 2006-010. Max Planck Institute für demographische Forschung.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2010. *OECD Employment Outlook: Moving Beyond the Jobs Crisis*. Paris: OECD.
- —2009. *Pensions at a Glance: Online 2009: Retirement Income in OECD Countries.* Online Country Profiles, including Personal Income Tax and Social Security Contributions. Paris: OECD.
- —2007. Babies and Bosses: Reconciling Work and Family Life. A Synthesis of Findings for OECD Countries. Paris: OECD.
- —2005. Babies and Bosses: Reconciling Work and Family Life. Vol. 4: Canada Finland, Sweden and the United Kingdom. Paris: OECD.
- Regeringskansliet: Government Offices of Sweden. 2007. *Social Insurance in Sweden*. Ministry of Health and Social Affairs. Fact Sheet, No. 8, March 2007.
- Reuters. 2009. "Aging Japan's Fertility Rate Up But Population Fails." 3 June 2009.
- Riedmüller, Barbara, and Michaela Willert. 2008. *Die Zukunft der Alterssicherung. Analyse und Dokumentation der Datengrundlagen aktueller Rentenpolitik*. Hans-Boeckler-Stiftung. http://www.boeckler.de/pdf_fof/S-2008-90-4-1.pdf (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- Social Security Administration and International Social Security Association (SSA and ISSA). 2008. *Social Security Programs Throughout the World (SSPTW)*. Washington DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Statistics Bureau Japan. 2010. "Statistical Handbook of Japan 2010." Statistics Bureau, Japan.<www.stat.go.jp/english/data/handbook/index.htm> (Accessed April 28, 2011).
- Statistics Canada. 2010. Women in Canada: Paid work. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/101209/dq101209a-eng.htm (Accessed April 28, 2011)
- Takayama, Norijuki. 2009. "Pension Coverage in Japan." Center for Generational Studies. Institute for Economic Research. Hitotsubashi University. In manuscript.
- Tuominen, Eila. 2005. *Gender Mainstreaming in the Finnish Pension Reform of 2005.* "Finnish Center for Pensions. Working Papers 10.
- United Nations (UN) 2007. World Population Prospects: The 2006 Revision. Table A. 15. Total Fertility Ranking for 2005-2010. New York: UN. http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/wpp2006/WPP2006_Highlights_rev.pdf (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- United States Census Bureau. 2011.Labor Force, Employment, and Earnings: Table 585. "Civilian Labor Force and Participation Rates With Projections: 1980 to 2018." In *Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2011*.U.S. Census Bureau. http://www.census.gov/compendia/statab/2011/tables/11s0585.pdf (Accessed May 3, 2011).
- Vlachantoni, Anthina. 2009. Care Credits in the British Pension System: how do they work and are they enough? Center for Research on Aging, University of Southampton. Paper presented at the 2009 Conference of the Social Policy Association.
- Verband Deutscher Versicherungstraeger (VDR) 2001. Rentenreform 2001: Das Wichtigste im Überblick. http://www.toennemann.de/Sonstige%20Broschueren/Soziales%20 und%20Arbeit/ger_45_rentenreform2001.pdf> (Accessed April 26, 2011).
- Zaidi, Ashgar. 2007. "Challenges in Guaranteeing Adequate Pension Incomes for Women." Policy Brief March 2007. European Centre. Presentation at the Joint Meeting of the Task Force Monitoring RIS and the Expert Group for the UNECE Conference on Aging (26-27 February 2007, Vienna).

Further Reading

Arza, Camila and Martin Kohli (eds.). 2008. *Pension Reform in Europe: Politics, Policy Models and Outcomes*. London and New York: Routledge.

Atkinson, Adele, Andrea Finney, and Stephen McKay. 2007. *Health, Disability, Caring, and Employment*. Corporate Document Services. Her Majesty's Stationery Office.

Babkin, A. 2008. "Vliyanie vtorogo rebenka na ob'emu pensennikh nakopleniy materie. The Influence of the Second Child Birth on Mothers' Pension Accounts." Independent Institute for Social Policy, Moscow, SPERO. *Social Policy: Expertise*. No. 9, (Fall-Winter). http://spero.socpol.ru/docs/spero_no9.pdf> (Accessed April 14, 2011).

Beamer, Glenn. 2005. "State Tax Credits and 'Making Work Pay' in Post-Welfare Reform Era." *Review of Policy Research* 22 (3): 385-395.

Bill 44/1999. Welfare Reform and Pensions Bill as presented to the House of Commons: Explanatory Notes, 1998-99, (10.02.1999).

Bill HC 9/1999 EN. Child Support, Pensions and Social Security Bill: Explanatory Notes, 1999-2000, (01.12.1999).

Bleijenbergh, Inge. 2004. *Citizens Who Care: European Social Citizenship in EU Debates on Childcare and Part-time Work.* Amsterdam: Dutch University Press.

Bundesverfassungsgericht .1975. Urteil vom 12. März 1975 (1 BvL 15, 19/71 und 32/73; 1BvR 297, 315/71, 407/72 und 37/73), "Erschwerende Vorraussetzung der Witwerrente gegenüber der Witwenrente in der Rentenversicherung der Arbeiter und Angestellten" ("Hinterbliebenenrente"), *Entscheidungen des Bundesverfassungsgerichtes*, 39, Tübingen: J.C.B Mohr.

- 1993. Urteil vom 7. Juli 1992 (1 BvL 51/86, 50/87 und 1 BvR 873/90, 761/91), "Berücksichtigung von Kindererziehungszeiten in der gesetzlichen Rentenversicherung der Arbeiter und Angestellten" ("Trümmerfrauen"), *Entscheidungen des Bundesverfassungsgerichtes*, 87, Tübingen: J.C.B Mohr.
- 1997. Urteil vom 12. März 1996 (1 BvR 609, 692/90). "Zur Auswirkung des Gleichheitssatzes (Art. 3, Abs. 1 GG) auf die Bewertung von Kindererziehungszeiten beim Zusammentreffen mit beitragsbelegten Zeiten in der gesetzlichen Rentenversicherung" ("Kindererziehungszeiten"), Entscheidungen des Bundesverfassungsgerichtes, 94, Tübingen: J.C.B Mohr.Act c. 30 of 1999. Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999: Explanatory Note, (11/11/1999). Bill 87/1995. Pensions Bill (HL).), 1994-95, (21.03.1995).

Choi, Jongkyun. 2006. "The Role of Derived Rights for Old-age Income Security of Women". *OECD Social Employment and Migration Working Papers*, No. 43.

Congressional Budget Office (CBO). 1986. Earnings Sharing Options for the Social Security System. Washington, DC: CBO.

Daniels, Norman. 1988. Am I My Parent's Keeper? An Essay on the Justice between the Old and the Young. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Dorbritz, Jürgen. 2008. "Germany: Family Diversity with Low Actual and Desired Fertility." In *Special Collection 7: Childbearing Trends and Policies in Europe. Demographic Research*, Vol. 19, Art. 17: 557-598. Rostock, Germany: Max Planck Institute für demographische Forschung.

Esping-Andersen, Gøsta. 2009. The Incomplete Revolution: Adapting Welfare States to Women's New Roles. Hoboken: Wiley.

— 2002. Why We Need a New Welfare State. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

European Commission. 2008. *Privately Managed Pension Funded Provision and Their Contribution to Adequate and Sustainable Pension*. Brussels: European Commission Social Protection Committee.

- 2006. Synthesis Report on Adequate and Sustainable Pensions. SEC. Technical Annex. http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/social_protection/docs/2006/rapport_pensions_final_en.pdf (Accessed April 14, 2011).
- 2004-2005. "Country Statistics and Comments" annex I to *Europe's Demographic Future: Facts and Figures*. Brussels.

Favreault, Melissa M. and C. Eugene Steuerle. 2007. "Social Security Spouse and Survivor Benefits for the Modern Family." *The Retirement Project Discussion Paper* 07-01. Washington, DC The Urban Institute.

Favreault, Melissa M., Frank J. Sammartino, and C. Eugene Steuerle. 2007. *Social Security and the Family*. Washington, D.C: Urban Institute Press.

Fierst, Edith U., and Nancy Duff Campbell, eds. 1988. *Earnings Sharing in Social Security: A Model for Reform: Report of the Technical Committee on Earnings Sharing*. Washington, DC: Center for Women Policy Studies.

Fitzpatrick, Christina Smith, Catherine Hill, and Leslie Muller. 2003. *Increasing Social Security Benefits for Women and Men with Long Careers and Low Earnings*. Paper presented at the Institute for Women's Policy Research Seventh International Women's Policy Research Conference, June 2003.

Frejka, Tomas, Tomáš Sobotka, Jan M. Hoem, and Laurent Toulemon. 2008. "Summary and General Conclusions: Childbearing Trends and Policies in Europe." In *Special Collection 7: Childbearing Trends and Policies in Europe. Demographic Research*, Vol. 19, Art. 2, 5-14. Rostock: Max Planck Institute für demographische Forschung.

Frericks, Patricia and Robert Maier. 2007. "The Gender Pension Gap: Effects of Norms and Reform Policies." In Camila Arza and Martin Kohli eds. *Pension Reform in Europe: Politics, Policy Models and Outcomes*. New York: Routledge.

Fultz, Elaine, ed. 2007. *The Gender Dimensions of Social Security Reform. Vol. 2: Case Studies of Romania and Slovenia*. Budapest: International Labour Office (ILO) Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe.

Fultz, Elaine, ed. 2006. *Pension reform in the Baltic States: Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania*. Budapest: International Labour Office (ILO).

Fultz, Elaine and Silke Steinhilber. 2004. "Social Security Reform and Gender Equality: Recent Experience in Central Europe." *International Labour Review* 6 (September): 249-273.

Gornick, Janet C., Teresa Munzi, Eva Sierminka, and Timothy Smeeding. 2008. *Older Women's Income and Wealth Packages: The Five-Legged Stool in Cross-National Perspective*. Luxembourg Wealth Study Working Paper Series. Working Paper No. 3.

Government Accountability Office (GAO). 2007. *Retirement Security: Women Face Challenges in Ensuring Financial Security in Retirement*. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office.

Hantrais, Linda. 2004. Family Policy Matters: Responding to Family Change in Europe. Bristol: Policy Press.

Herd, Pamela. 2009. *Crediting Care in Social Security: A Proposal for an Income Tested Care Supplement*. University of Wisconsin, Madison.

- 2006. "Crediting Care or Marriage? Reforming Social Security Family Benefits." *Journal of Gerontology* 61 (1): 24-34.
- 2005. "Reforming a Breadwinner Welfare State: Gender, Race, Class, and Social Security Reform." *Social Forces* 83 (4): 1365-1394.

Hoem, Jan M. 2008. "Overview: Chapter 8: The Impact of Public Policies on European Fertility." In *Special Collection 7: Childbearing Trends and Policies in Europe. Demographic Research.* Max Planck Institute für demographische Forschung.

Hohnerlein, Eva Maria. 2000. *The Emerging Shape of Uniform European Family and Child Law — The Role of the European Convention on Human Rights*. The European Legal Forum (E) 4-2000-01. IPR Verlag.

Iams, Howard M. and Steven H. Sandell. 1994. "Changing Social Security Benefits to Reflect Childcare Years: A Policy Proposal Whose Time Has Passed." *Social Security Bulletin* 57 (4): 10-24.

Iams, Howard, M., Gayle L. Reznick, and Christopher R. Tamborini. 2009. "Earnings Sharing in Social Security: Projected Impacts of Alternative Proposals Using the MINT Model." *Social Security Bulletin* 69 (1): 1-17.

Immergut, Ellen M., Karen M. Anderson and Isabelle Schulze eds. (2006) *The Handbook of West European Pension Politics*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Kohli, Martin. 2008. "Generational Equity. Concepts and Attitudes." In *Pension Reform in Europe: Politics, Policies and Outcomes*, Arza, Camila and Martin Kohli.London: Routledge, 196-214.

Laitinen-Kuikka, Sini and Eila Tuominen. 2006. *Changing Division of Labour within the Family and the Responses of Pension Policy*. Helsinki: Finnish Centre for Pensions Working Papers.

Leitner, Sigrid. 2001. "Sex and Gender Discrimination within EU Pension Systems." *Journal of European Social Policy* 11 (2): 99-115.

Mattil, Birgit. (2006) *Pension Systems: Sustainability and Distributional Effects in Germany and the United Kingdom*. Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag.

Milewski, François. 2007. "Combattre les inégalités entre femmes et les hommes. Idées simples, réalités complexes". *Revue de l'OFCE* 102 (3): 541-558.

Mutual Information System on Social Protection in the EU Member States and the EEA (MISSOC). 2008. *Social Protection: Aspects of Flexicurity and Active Inclusion*. European Commission, DG Employment, Social Affairs & Equal Opportunity.

Myles, John. 2002 "A New Social Contract for the Elderly?" In: *Why We Need a New Welfare State*, ed. Gøsta Esping-Andersen. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nivorozhkina, Ivanovna. 2007. Materinstvo i zarabotnaya plata: Pochemu zhenshchiny s det'mi zarabatyvayut men'she? (Motherhood and Wages: Why Do Women with Children Earn Less?). In *Roditeli i deti, muzhchiny i zhenshchiny v sem'ye i obshchestve. (Parents and Children, Men and Women in Family and Society,* eds. Tyayana. Maleva and Oksana Sinyavskaya. Moscow: Independent Institute for Social Policy.

NSR. National Strategy Report on Social Protection and Social Exclusion 2008-2011. Cf. EU Commission website.

Nussbaum, Martha C. 2000. *Women and Human Development: The Capabilities Approach*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD). 2003. Babies and Bosses: Reconciling Work and Family Life. Vol. 2. Austria, Ireland, Japan. OECD.

Palmer, Edward. 2000. *The Swedish Pension Reform Model: Framework and Issues*. Social Protection Paper 0012, Pension Reform Primer. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Porter, Kathryn H., Kathy Larin, and Wendell Primus. 1999. *Social Security and Poverty Among the Elderly: A National and State Perspective*. Washington, DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities.

Sarfati, Hedva. 2007. "Social Dialogue for Sustainable and Flexible Labour Markets.: What Future Perspective?" *European Papers on the New Welfare*. Paper No. 8/2007. http://eng.newwelfare.org/2007/09/02/social-dialogue-for-sustainable-pensions-and-flexible-labour-markets/> (Accessed May 2, 2011).

- 2006. "Social Dialogue: A Potential 'Highroad' to Policies Addressing Ageing in the EU Member States." *International Social Security Review* 59 (1): 49-74.
- 2004. "Gender, Discontinued Careers, and Low Activity Rates in a Long-Life Society." In *Industrial Relations* 59 (2): 379-415.

Sarfati, Hedva and Giuliano Bonoli, eds. 2002. *Labour Market and Social Protection Reforms in International Perspective: Parallel or Converging Tracks*. Abingdon: Ashgate.

Sigg, Roland. 2005. *A Global Overview on Social Security in the Age of Longevity*. United Nations Expert Group Meeting on Social and Economic Implications of Changing Population Age Structure. UN/POP/PD/2005/6.

Smeeding, Timothy. 1999. "Social Security Reform: Improving Benefit Adequacy and Economic Security for Women." *Aging Studies Program Policy Brief*, No. 16/1999. Center for Retirement Research Working Papers, Boston College.

Schwabish, Jonathan, Michael S. Simpson, and Julie Topoleski. 2007. "Earnings Sharing and Social Security Solvency." Paper presented at the Fall Conference of the Association for Public Policy Analysis and Management, Washington, DC.

Sen, Amartya. 2009. *The Idea of Justice*. Cambridge, MA: The Belknap Press of Harvard University.

Steinhilber, Silke. 2004. "The Gender Implications of Pension Reforms. General Remarks and Evidence from Selected Countries." Presentation prepared for the UNRISD report "Gender Equality: Striving for Justice in an Unequal World."

Stropnik, Nada and Milivoja Šircelj. 2008 "Slovenia: Generous Family Policy without Evidence of any Fertility Impact." *Demographic Research* 19 (Art. 26): 1019-1058. Rostock: Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research.

Toulemon, Laurent, Ariane Pailhé, and Clémentine Rossier. 2008 "France: High and Stable Fertility." *Demographic Research* 19 (Art. 16): 503-556. Rostock: Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research.

United States Senate Special Committee on Aging. *Revitalizing Social Security: Effectively Targeting Benefit Enhancements for Low Lifetime Earners and the Oldest Old.* Hearing. 111th Cong., 17 June.

— Social Security: Keeping the Promise in the 21st Century Hearing. 111th Cong., 17 June United States Department of Health and Human Services, Social Security Administration, Subcommittee on Social Security of the Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives 1985. Report on Earnings Sharing Implementation Study. (Print No. 99-4). Wash-

United States Congress. 2009. HR 769: Social Security Caregiver Credit Act of 2009. A Bill to credit prospectively individuals serving as caregivers of dependent relatives with deemed wages for up to five years of such service. 111th Congress, 1st Session.

ington DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Veil, Mechthild. 2002. Alterssicherung von Frauen in Deutschland and Frankreich. Reformperspektiven und Reformblockaden. Vol. 41. Düsseldorf: Hans-Boeckler-Stiftung.

- 2004. "Frankreich. Erklärt die Gesellschaftliche Verankerung französischer Familienpolitik die steigenden Geburtenraten und die hohe Müttererwerbstätigkeit?" In KAS-Auslandsinformationen, Vol. 1, Sankt Augustin: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung.

Zaidi, Ashgar. 2007. "Challenges in Guaranteeing Adequate Pension Incomes for Women." Policy Brief March 2007. European Centre. Presentation at the Joint Meeting of the Task Force Monitoring RIS and the Expert Group for the UNECE Conference on Aging (26-27 February 2007, Vienna).

Zedlewski, Sheila R. 1984. *The Distributional Consequences of an Earnings Sharing Proposal*. Project Report No. 3344. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.

Appendix

The European Union, Social Security, and the Open Method of Coordination

Since the analysis in this report includes five member states of the European Union, it is important to note the relationship between member states' social security policies and the EU legislative and regulatory structure as a whole. Member states of the European Union are subject to binding legislation and regulation in certain areas, such as monetary, fiscal, and customs policies. In social policy, however, governance devolves to the member states on most issues. This devolution, known as subsidiarity, assigns competence for policy making to the lowest effective level. In practice, subsidiarity leaves individual nations in charge of much of their own social policy. However, the leaders of the European Union and of its precursor organizations recognized as far back as the 1950s the close links between economic policy and social policy with particular regard to assuring both competitiveness and cooperation among the members—building a level playing field— and to assuring freedom of movement of people across national boundaries within the European Union, a founding concern, and one recognized as important to the economic development of the European Union.

Jurisdiction within the European Union for matters of social security as well as other social issues associated with social exclusion, homelessness, and gender is located in the Directorate-General (DG) for Employment, Social Affairs, and Equal Opportunity. The directorate is one of many that form the administrative force of the European Commission, the European Union's executive body. Insofar as social security issues are concerned, the DG Employment is responsible for two issues. First, it has direct binding authority over freedom of movement within the European Union. In this regard, its focus is on protecting the pension rights of those who move from country to country and often must negotiate the complex entitlements that may arise as a result.

The second issue, or set of issues, involves the DG Employment's soft authority to pursue general policy goals adopted by the Council of Ministers that relate to its own sphere of authority. Among these are pensions where the DG Employment is charged with seeking convergence and compliance with general EU objectives regarding adequacy, gender equality and non-discrimination, and sustainability. The DG Employment's principal tool of governance with respect to this task is known the Open Method of Coordination (OMC). Its formal existence dates back to the Lisbon Summit of 2000. The OMC provides a process whereby member states establish benchmarks and indicators linked to the policy goals of interest (such as those just mentioned), assess their own level of compliance, project actions intended to improve compliance, and provide further assessments. These efforts are reflected in periodic national consultations, action plans, and National Strategy Reports.

As a tool of governance, the OMC is very much a work in progress. The OMC is in its early stages, and it is difficult to imagine a process more likely to lead to agreement and concerted action in an area freighted with diverse systems and policy objectives.

The importance of the OMC for this report rests in its documentation, in particular the National Strategy Reports and the Synthesis Reports — that the process generates. The data are not comprehensive and are often released after lengthy delays, but they nonetheless provide a valuable window into the functioning of PCC and other social security systems. They allow the broad public to hear from their governments on issues of importance to large numbers of women, men, and children.

Author Biography

Elaine Fultz has a Ph.D. in Public Administration from New York University where her teaching and research centered on government regulation of financial markets. She has been engaged with social security policy and implementation since 1975, first as a congressional aide and then as a professional staff member of the



Social Security Subcommittee of Ways and Means of the U.S. House of Representatives; Executive Director of the U.S. National Commission on Childhood Disability; social security specialist for the International Labor Organization (ILO) in Africa and subsequently in Central and Eastern Europe; and, Director of the ILO Subregional Office for Eastern Europe and Central Asia in Moscow.

At the ILO, Ms. Fultz provided policy advice and training on social security to governments, national trade unions, and employer associations. As part of her work, she designed and commissioned research on gender equality, family policy, and pensions. She is the author of many publications on these issues.

Having retired from the ILO, Ms. Fultz works as an independent consultant. She prepared the principal report for the European Regional Meeting of the International Social Security Association in Warsaw in 2010 and has consulted with the ILO on a range of social security issues, including increasing coverage of workers in irregular employment, reducing maternal mortality, combating HIV/AIDS, and improving gender equality in private pension systems. She is a regular contributor to the *International Social Security Review*.

Recent IWPR Publications on Social Security

Social Security and Black Women

May 2011, #D496 Fact sheet, 6 pages

Latinas and Social Security

by Jeff Hayes, Ph.D., Youngmin Yi, and Heather Berg April 2011, #D495 Fact sheet, 5 pages

Social Security Especially Vital to Women and People of Color, Men Increasingly Reliant

By Heidi Hartmann, Ph.D., Jeff Hayes, Ph.D., and Robert Drago, Ph.D. January 2011, IWPR #D494

Report, 22 pages, \$10.00

Women and Social Security: Benefit Types and Eligibility

By Ashley English and Sunhwa Lee, Ph.D. March 2010, IWPR #D488 Briefing paper, 9 pages

Who are Social Security Beneficiaries?

By Ashley English and Sunhwa Lee, Ph.D. March 2010, IWPR #D489 Fact sheet, 4 pages

Recent Related IWPR Publications

Maternity, Paternity, and Adoption Leave in the United States

by Annamaria Sundbye and Ariane Hegewisch May 2011, IWPR #A143 Fact sheet, 9 pages

Women in Poverty During the Great Recession

By Jane M. Henrici, Ph.D., Allison Suppan Helmuth, Frances Zlotnick, and Jeff Hayes, Ph.D. September 2010, IWPR #D493
Briefing paper, 13 pages, \$5.00

Separate and Not Equal? Gender Segregation in the Labor Market and the Gender Wage Gap

By Ariane Hegewisch, Hannah Liepmann, Jeff Hayes, Ph.D., Heidi Hartmann, Ph.D. August 2010, IWPR #C377

Briefing paper, 16 pages, \$5.00

The Gender Wage Gap: 2010

By Ariane Hegewisch, Amber Henderson, and Claudia Williams April 2010, IWPR #C350 Fact sheet, 4 pages

Women's and Men's Employment and Unemployment in the Great Recession

By Heidi Hartmann, Ph.D., Ashley English, and Jeff Hayes, Ph.D. February 2010, IWPR #C373
Briefing paper, 67 pages, \$10.00

IWPR Program Advisory Committee

Barbara Bergmann

American University

Nancy Duff Campbell

National Women's Law Center

Joe Cordes

The George Washington University

Nikki Daruwala

American Rights at Work

Cynthia Deitch

The George Washington University

David Fasenfest

Wayne State University

Sarah Gotbaum

SCG Associates

Caren Grown

American University

Cindy Hall

Women's Policy Inc.

Cynthia Harrison

The George Washington University

Rufina Hernandez

National Education Association

Catherine Hill

American Association of University Women

Lisalyn Jacobs

Legal Momentum

Joan Kuriansky

Wider Opportunities for Women

Sara Meléndez

Savage/Meléndez & Associates LLC

Christine Owens

National Employment Law Project

Elena Silva

Education Sector

Deborah Weinstein

Coalition on Human Needs

Nancy Zirkin

Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights



Printed on recycled paper using vegetable-based inks and 100% wind power.

Become a Member

(Benefits vary according to membership level)

Student: \$35

- Quarterly newsletter, fact sheets, and research-in-briefs
- 50% discount off an annual subscription to the Journal of Women, Politics & Policy*
- 20% discount on IWPR publications
- Special IWPR conference rate

Friend: \$75

Regular subscription to the IWPR Information Network

- Quarterly newsletter, fact sheets, and research-in-briefs
- 50% discount off an annual subscription to the Journal of Women, Politics & Policy*
- 20% discount on IWPR publications
- 20% discount on one registration for an IWPR conference

Sustainer: \$175

Enhanced subscription to the IWPR Information Network

- Research News Reporter Online
- Quarterly newsletter, fact sheets, and research-in-briefs
- 50% discount off an annual subscription to the Journal of Women, Politics & Policy*
- 20% discount on IWPR publications
- 20% discount on one registration for an IWPR conference

Partner: \$250

Comprehensive subscription to the IWPR Information Network

- Complimentary copies of all IWPR major reports
- Research News Reporter Online
- Quarterly newsletter, fact sheets, and research-in-briefs
- 50% discount off an annual subscription to the Journal of Women, Politics & Policy*
- 20% discount on IWPR publications
- 20% discount on one registration for an IWPR conference

Affiliate: \$350

Organizational subscription to the IWPR Information Network (\$200 for nonprofits with operating budgets under \$500,000)

- Complimentary copies of all IWPR major reports
- Research News Reporter Online
- Quarterly newsletter, fact sheets, and research-in-briefs
- 50% discount off an annual subscription to the Journal of Women, Politics & Policy*
- 20% discount on IWPR publications
- 20% discount on three registrations for an IWPR conference

Corporate Affiliate: \$1,000

Corporate subscription to the IWPR Information Network (\$500 for corporations with revenue under \$1 million)

- Complimentary copies of all IWPR major reports
- Research News Reporter Online
- Quarterly newsletter, fact sheets, and research-in-briefs
- 50% discount off an annual subscription to the Journal of Women, Politics & Policy*
- 20% discount on IWPR publications
- 20% discount on five registrations for an IWPR conference

Eleanor Roosevelt Policy Council

Members of IWPR's premier giving circle receive a comprehensive subscription, special acknowledgement in select IWPR publications, a 50% discount off an annual subscription to the *Journal of Women, Politics & Policy,** and exclusive invitations to IWPR events across the country.

- Community Council, \$500-\$999
- Institute Council, \$1,000-\$2,499
- Leadership Council, \$2,500-\$4,999
- President's Council, \$5,000 and up

For more information contact Membership Services.

The Institute for Women's Policy Research is a 501(c)(3) charitable organization. Donations and membership fees are tax-deductible to the extent allowed by law.



1200 18th Street NW, Suite 301 Washington, DC 20036 202/785-5100 • 202/833.4362 fax iwpr.org